Nursing University Students' Experience of Online Education in COVID-19 Pandemic: A Content Analytic Study

Razieh Beigi Broujeni¹, Zahra Khademi², Zakieh Ahmadi¹

¹ Department of Medical-Surgical Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences, Bandar Abbas, Iran ² Department of Nursing Management, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences, Bandar Abbas, Iran

Received: 21 Feb. 2022; Accepted: 24 Jul. 2022

Abstract- COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent online mode of education have challenged the national educational system and higher education. Thus, the present research aimed to explore students' experience of the advantages and disadvantages of online education at Bandar Abbas University of medical sciences during the pandemic. The present qualitative research conducted a content analysis of 26 nursing students' experiences. The sampling method was purposive. Unstructured face-to-face interviews were conducted with participants of the study to collect the required data. The interview protocol was followed. The required social distance was kept, and the ethical code was adhered to. The participants were interviewed as already arranged at a place of convenience. The interviews took between 40 and 60 minutes, depending on the immediate condition. The data collection continued until data saturation. The data analysis led to the extraction of 5 themes and 8 categories, including teacher-student miscommunication, student-student miscommunication, evaluation issues, anxiety, distancing from active learning, materials/sources, lack of physical attendance, non-educational activities, and 22 subcategories. The present findings could help professors and education authorities to better understand students' expected learning and the challenges of online education. They could, thus, be better aware of the existing barriers and could better plan to remove them.

© 2022 Tehran University of Medical Sciences. All rights reserved. *Acta Med Iran* 2022;60(8):513-520.

Keywords: Experience; Nursing students; Online education; Qualitative research

Introduction

The global COVID-19 pandemic is known as the most disastrous crisis in history and has affected the entire world (1). As an unprecedented crisis in global health, the COVID-19 pandemic has fundamentally changed human behavior (2). Not only has the disease affected the health staff's and the clinical workers' health and the care provided for patients, but it has also changed all communities and systems, including the academic system and university life and, consequently, education (1,3).

According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), 1.2 billion students were faced with closed schools and universities worldwide (4). In the emergent conditions, all medical institutions worldwide were obliged to largely limit or stop face-to-face education (3). University students got truly anxious, and many senior students lost

job opportunities. Among these, nursing faculties, which were in charge of educating the future generations of healthcare providers, encountered certain challenges (1). The whole educational system was shaken on a global scale, and the educational institutions faced challenges in finding the right ways of handling the disaster (5).

The COVID-19 pandemic has made people's futures unclear, as nobody can be sure when the disease will end. In many countries, including Iran, the pandemic has led to the closure of schools and universities since the winter of 2019 to prevent the further spread of the disease. In most educational centers, online classes replaced face-to-face routine education and have prevailed ever since (6). Therefore, it can be concluded that the world has seen the greatest revolution in education from ordinary face-to-face mode to online mode (7). Many universities worldwide changed their entire operations to digital mode. At the outset, they were more concerned about how

Corresponding Author: Z. Ahmadi

Department of Medical-Surgical Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences, Bandar Abbas, Iran Tel: +98 9172875931, Fax: +98 7631285022, E-mail address: z.ahmadi250@gmail.com

to use the online mode as far as they could than how to manage the quality of online education (5).

In the past decade, internet technology (IT) has significantly affected all aspects of education and has introduced a new form of education (8). Even before the pandemic, certain aspects of medical education have been held online. The practical educational aspects of these fields of study have challenged online education (3). Online education implies using electronic systems such as computers, the internet, electronic sources or drives, and so on (6). This process has been accompanied by lower costs. better flexibility, easy access, comprehensiveness, self-reliance in learning, correspondence to personal learning objectives (8).

Due to the essential role of online education in the COVID-19 pandemic, educational institutions are expected to provide all that is required to use online education. There have, thus, significant changes in teaching and learning methods through technology (7). Universities have also attempted to set the required standards for rapid implementation of online education by the affiliated divisions. In universities of medical sciences in Iran, the NAVID system and Adobe connect have been the most common learning management systems meanwhile (9).

Online education has also caused a number of problems in installation, log-in, upload, audio-visual quality or services, teacher-student or student-student miscommunication, and limited chances of rehearsal after the class (5). These can all lower the quality of instructions. The body of research conducted before the pandemic showed that half of the university students participating in online courses left the course due to the low quality. Some other research showed that despite the overall satisfaction with online education, learners complained about several drawbacks, such as lacking technical skills, miscommunication, delayed feedback, and inactive learning due to distraction or personal interactions (7).

In a study of the online education courses offered by Shiraz University in 2017, the reported issues prevailed in education, management, support, communication design, evaluation, and organization (10). Another survey of university students' satisfaction with online education during the COVID-19 pandemic in Pakistan showed that the most common problems were, respectively: connection and lack of resources (38.2%). miscommunication with teachers and classmates (29.1%), absent-mindedness (12.7%), inactivity (10.9%), and finally the absence of the right conditions at home for attending the classes (7). Similarly, another study in Bangladesh showed that most university students failed to participate fully in classes, failed to communicate effectively with peers, did not adequately comprehend the course content, and did not feel well in class. They mostly preferred face-to-face classes but had no choice but to attend online courses during the crisis (11).

The data analysis by Bakouei et al., in the nursing and midwifery faculty of Babol University of medical sciences during the COVID-19 pandemic revealed three categories: benefits, barriers, and strategies for promoting the quality of online education. The subcategories included "flexibility and appropriate setting for teaching/learning," "lacking skill in teaching online courses by some teachers," "ineffective learning," "students' failure to plan for studies," "invalid evaluation and system software and hardware problems," and "optimizing online teaching methodology, holding online classes, uploading video files and effective evaluation" (12). Moreover, Farsi et al., showed that 66.2% of nursing university students were satisfied with the quality of online education, and the satisfaction level of 56.3% was medium-level (6).

Quality and quantity are at the core of education development and promotion. Educational development is particularly correlated with both quality and quantity. Educational development is deemed fruitless without considering qualitative and quantitative growth. Besides, feedback is an inevitable part of a system, and if correct, it can help promote teaching/learning, promote the whole educational system and enhance the learning process.

Thus, based on the recurrent feedback received from learners during the online educational experience they had during the pandemic, we aimed to conduct a qualitative study and a content analysis of nursing/midwifery university students' experience of Hormozgan during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Materials and Methods

The present research used conventional content analysis to explore nursing students' experience of online education during the COVID-19 pandemic. After the approval of the University Ethics Committee (IR.HUMS. REC. 1400. 313), data were collected in 2021 from the nursing/midwifery faculty of Bandar Abbas University of medical sciences, a well-known science and research center. The sampling was purposive in type. The inclusion criteria were being a bachelor's student of nursing, willingness to participate in research and a

written letter of informed consent. The data collection continued until data saturation (i.e., when no new information emerged and only the previous information was confirmed or repeated). The data were collected through unstructured interviews within three months (March to May). The interview began with an open-ended question ("What is your experience of learning online courses during the COVID-19 pandemic?"). Then, the next questions followed based on the answer to the first question and in line with the purpose of the research. The interview was held individually and face-to-face with the right social distance kept. The interviews were held upon an appointment already made with each participant in a calm and quiet place in the nursing faculty at an appropriate time. The interviews took between 40 and 60 minutes with an emphasis on the interviewee's convenience.

Data collection and analysis (qualitative in type) were done simultaneously. The data analysis was done immediately after each interview until data saturation. The analytic method was conventional content analysis aiming to provide an in-depth understanding of a matter. The researcher did not adhere to any presumed categorization of findings and let the categories and subcategories emerge. The expected result (of the conventional content analysis) was a model development (13). In the present study, the analysis began with a recurrent review of the textual data and created an overall sense of the data. The analysis continued until the data saturation occurred. Before the research, it was decided to look for both explicit and implicit meanings. Then, the

analysis units (i.e., sentences with specific meanings) were identified, and the main themes in each unit were known as the meaning units. Each meaning unit was assigned a primary code. The secondary codes were also set and subsumed under each primary code. Then the primary codes with similar meanings were put together and formed the categories. The main themes were also created by comparing and integrating similar categories (14). Ethical considerations were also taken into accounts, such as the right to withdraw from the study whenever a participant wanted, the confidentiality of the information, and the anonymity of the participants.

To increase the internal validity of data, a memberchecking method was used. To this aim, after each interview, the transcribed content was returned to the participants to confirm its accuracy. To increase the external validity, a rich and thick description of the dataset was used. To increase the reliability of data, the organization method of the recorded data was used. In the data collection and extraction step, the audit trail was employed.

Results

A total number of 26 B.S. students of nursing participated in the present qualitative research. Their average age was 21.1±2.4 years, and 51% of the participants were female. The mean duration of the interviews was 48 minutes. In this study, 5 main themes, 8 categories, and 22 subcategories were extracted. The main categories included personal and professional characteristics, as summarized in table 1.

Table 1. University students' categorization of online education

Main theme	Categories	Subcategories
Educational communication	Teacher-student:	Absence in the class environment,
		The problem in communication,
	Teacher-student	Misunderstanding,
	miscommunication	One-way teaching (teacher-centered class),
	Student-student: Student-student	Lacking knowledge of student's weaknesses,
	miscommunication	Unfamiliarity with classmates,
		Less team or group work
Student evaluation	Peculiar and Unusual	The novelty of evaluation type,
		Lacking correspondence between teaching and testing,
		Limited time in the final examination,
Class and exam attendance	Anxiety	No access to course materials (sources)
		Problem logging in the class and the hyperlink,
		Internet connection problem
Learning the material		Lack of Q&A in class,
		Distraction,
	Distancing from active learning	Lacking attention to materials,
		Failure to perceive the significance of materials,
		Inadequate content,
		Low power of critical thinking
Advantages	Sources,	Access to sources, audio-visual files,
	Lack of physical attendance,	Lower chance of affliction with COVID-19,
	Non-educational activities	Chance of doing non-educational activities

Educational communication

A main theme in the present research was educational communication, along with the two categories of teacherstudent and student-student communication. These categories were defined as "teacher-student" and "student-student miscommunication" in online classes. The former had a number of subcategories, including absence in class, difficulty in communication, misunderstanding, one-way communication (teachercentered), and no recognition of students' strengths and weaknesses. Student #2 stated: "When we are not present in a real class and cannot see the teacher, the real teacherstudent communication is not realized. The student has a passive role, as the teacher becomes the sole speaker. You cannot even ask a question. It is hard to type in the chat box as the fonts get mixed up, and even sometimes a misspelling can cause misunderstanding".

Here is student #9's comment on teacher-student miscommunication: "In an online class, the teacher cannot know the student's strengths and weaknesses. I myself was good at reading and interpreting cardiograms. As soon as I saw a slide that the teacher showed, I could tell what it meant. But because the classes were not face-to-face, the teacher could not see and appreciate my skill. I had a good command of reading ECG, and if the classes were face-to-face, I could volunteer and show my skill. The teacher would then appreciate it. The same goes for our weaknesses. There is no way the teacher can know our weaknesses".

Concerning the student-student miscommunication, the subcategories found were unfamiliarity with classmates and poor teamwork. With this concern, student #4 stated: "Now I am a freshman in the second semester. I hardly know any classmates. I have just seen their names in the class and nothing more about them. I think this is a major disadvantage of online education". Student #24 described her experience of online education: "University students' less familiarity with each other can lower the quality of group activities in different fields of study and research."

Student evaluation

Student evaluation was another main theme extracted from the interview content. The categories were "peculiar" and "unusual evaluation." The subcategories were the novelty of evaluation type, heterogeneous evaluation, limited time in final exam production-type items, and limited access to course materials.

In most interviews, the online evaluation was

described by students as peculiar and unusual. They found it unusual as they had never before had a similar experience and, thus, found the new experience stressful. They also described the evaluation process as peculiar as they could not justify the goal of evaluation to be anything other than what they learned. Students reported a mismatch between the course content and the examination content. This is how student #6 described her experience of online education: "The first time I attended an online class, everything was brand new to me, and I did not know what to do. I did not even know how to move to the next question. Everything was strange to me. Though I had watched the instructional video on how to go through an online test, the actual experience was a great shock ".

Several students (#6, 11, 15, 18, 19, 24) described online evaluation as peculiar because there was hardly any match between the educational goals and student evaluation goals. In other words, what was taught in the online class differed from what was tested. With this respect, student #21 commented: "The teacher presented a PowerPoint file in class in which the types of arrhythmia were only named. The teacher only showed us a schematic image of arrhythmia, but in the exam, many complicated arrhythmia types were included. The medicines tested in the exam were very different from those introduced in class. These contradictions were really annoying ". Similarly, student #4 described her experience of online evaluation: "We had a productiontype exam with 8 questions that required lengthy answers. We only had 40 minutes, while it only took 10-15 minutes to upload the answers. We were pressed for time. I wish our teacher reconsidered the time limit".

Another subcategory of student evaluation was no access to course materials (sources). What the students meant was that the material was omitted from the platform before the exam time. Or, the material to be covered in an exam was not uploaded on the website. Here is what student #26 put forth: "The teacher was supposed to upload a file for further reading, but forgot all about it. We reminded him several times, but he kept forgetting, and". Another student commented: "The booklet which was supposed to be reviewed for the exam was omitted from the website three weeks before the exam. So, we did not have access to the file anymore. I, who had not downloaded the file earlier, could finally take the source from a friend. Some other classmates, who had not noticed the elimination of the source, missed it entirely and could not answer the related questions in the

exam".

Class and exam attendance

Another major theme extracted from the interviews was "attendance in class and exams." The respective category involved anxiety, and the subcategories were the problem in logging into the class or exam and internet connection. Students felt anxious when they found it hard to log into the class or exam session due to the low speed of the net. With this concern, student #20 commented: "At the beginning of the course, they gave us a log-in hyperlink which differed across teachers and courses every hour. If you did not have the link at the beginning of the session, you could not enter the class unless you asked for permission to attend the class as a guest and waited for the teacher to let you in. This was truly stressful ".

Student #10 also commented on online class attendance: "The day when I was supposed to recite a lesson, I could not enter the class for connection problems. The class had started, and the teacher thought I was not prepared. It was a hard day, and I was all worried that the teacher misjudged me ".

Similarly, student #8 explained: "We managed to log in morning classes better than others. When it was closer to noon, things got harder to manage. The platform seemed to get disrupted". Student #12 talked about her concerns about attending the final exam: "Since the beginning of the exam, we only had 3 minutes to enter, and if some internet connection problem occurred, there was no way to log in again and take the exam. I was so stressed that I even forgot my username and password. Fortunately, I faced no problem entering the exam session, but every time at least one or two students got into trouble."

Learning the material

Learning the material was another major theme extracted from this study. The study participants' mentioned distancing from active learning as their experience of learning the material. The subcategories were the lack of Q&As in class, distraction, lacking attention to instructions, lacking perception of the significance of the materials, low-quality content, and low critical thinking. In this study, according to students' perceptions, active learning meant a kind of learning that involved all students' participation in Q & As in class, sharing of thoughts, and chances of criticism.

This is what student #5 said about learning in online classes: "When we are not in a real physical class and cannot see the teacher (as most teachers do not turn their webcams on), we fail to perceive the significance and implication of the lesson for our field of study (nursing). When we are at home, and the teacher is the sole speaker, we get easily distracted. When we deal with other stuff, we may even fall asleep...".

Similarly, student 7 commented: "I really liked the class to be run as Q & A. We needed chances to speak our minds and think more about the discussions and patients. We needed more critical thinking. But it seemed impossible, as the teacher was the sole speaker. There was no way to discuss the issues and think deeply".

Here is student #13's comment: "I do not fully agree with online classes. I think we learn less and miss the main content. The teacher's voice gets easily disconnected, and the students are often distracted". Student #22 commented: "The PowerPoint files some teachers present are not visually attractive. There is too much text and scarcely any image or video to help us understand the content better. When the content uploaded and taught is low-quality, when the form, color, and attraction of the PowerPoint presentation are poor, the scientific content is limited and old, and we do not learn as we should. This is exactly what happened to us this semester".

Advantages

The last theme raised here is the advantages of online education as perceived by nursing university students. The categories are sources, lack of physical attendance, and non-educational activities. The subcategories are access to sources and audio/visual files, a lower risk of affliction with COVID-19, and the chances of doing noneducational activities. The students' overall perception of online education was not positive. The advantages of online education could only be extracted from three interviews. With this concern, here is student #16's comment: "When those in charge have set up classes that we can attend while at home and far from the risk of the disease, this is a privilege. We may not fall behind in our studies during the pandemic. This is the advantage of online education that we do not have to physically attend classes and threaten our own and others' health". Similarly, student #23 explained: "The good point about online education is that the teacher uploads the files in NAVID system (for university students) where we can access it as many times as we want. We can watch the files or listen to the teacher's audio-recorded files at our convenience. When the sources are available, students learn better ".

Student #21 also mentioned: "I do physical exercises, actually professionally. These online classes helped me both participate in instructional courses and do sports as I wished. It is a pleasure that we have the chance to do non-academic work beside our curricular tasks and activities".

Discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic was a global threat to health and influenced all aspects of human life, including education. Considering the dramatic effects and the challenges of online education, the present research aimed to explore nursing students' experience of online education during the COVID-19 pandemic. The content analysis of the interviews with university students showed that their experience of online education could be divided into several main themes: educational communication, student evaluation, class and exam attendance, learning the materials, and the advantages of online education.

The educational communication theme was divided into several categories as the challenges of online education perceived by university students: teachermiscommunication and student-student student miscommunication. Similarly, in a body of research by Lakbala (15) and Wingo (16), limited communication with the teacher was also mentioned as the main challenge of online education. In a similar vein, Ilonga et al., stated in their study that limited interactions could demotivate students and confuse them in assignments (17). Also, Surkhali and Garbuja mentioned the absence of face-to-face communication as a barrier to teachers' awareness of students' nonverbal behaviors. disappointment, and interest in-class participation. The teacher's failure to share his/their feelings was a barrier to student motivation and enthusiasm to participate in class by both parties (teacher and student) (18). In agreement with the present findings, Carpenter also found that nurses preferred face-to-face interaction with the teacher to learn things better (19). Rezaei et al., also drew attention to less face-to-face interactions and verbal and interpersonal communication in online education and emphasized that this mode of education has reduced the rate of direct communication. Verbal communication has been replaced by non-verbal communication through groups and channels. People spend lots of their time in these channels and groups (20).

The other themes extracted from the content analysis of interviews were: peculiar and unusual evaluation (due to the novel and unprecedented nature of evaluation), lacking correspondence (mismatch) between teaching and testing, limited-time set for the production-type final exams, and no access to materials. Evidently, if the teaching is all right, but the evaluation is not appropriate, this can lead to students' dissatisfaction. Using online education requires a change of evaluation methods. For instance, during the pandemic, in some universities, the traditional scoring system was replaced by an overall evaluation based on whether a student passed a given course or not (21). Limited access to the materials needed for exams and evaluations is one reason for students' anxiety about the exam and evaluation. This is consistent with the studies by Sahu et al., and Morin, who concluded that limited access to sources and references are challenges that can disrupt education and evaluation (21,22). Mandatory face-to-face exams (in online education), giving no final score, and students' failure at exams due to the shortage of time were among the existing challenges mentioned by Shafiei et al., (10). Part of the evaluation process has to do with the assignments (homework). In their research on nursing students, Teflord and Senior reported concerns about the form of feedback on assignments and the provided answers and making sure of their accuracy as a problem facing university students. The strategies they suggested included a more effective plan to provide feedback on the assigned homework to increase satisfaction with evaluation and lower students' concerns and confusion (23). Thus, medical science educational centers are advised to use both evolutionary and accumulative evaluation methods in an online mode (3).

the Concerns about potentially interrupted participation in classes due to limited access to the internet and problem logging in the class or exam link were some other challenges extracted from the interviews. As perceived by most university students, these problems have disrupted the teaching process. Evidently, in fostering electronic learning, the technology factor (e.g., infrastructure, network, software, and hardware) is key to education (24). The findings reported by Abo-Seada, Saint-Marc et al., showed that not all students accessed the required devices for online education, which is consistent with the present research (25-26).

Similarly, in a study of nursing students, limited access to the internet and connection problems were the main challenges experienced and reported in distance learning by students (3). For instance, living in rural areas is one reason why many people may not have adequate access to internet services, as mentioned in several studies

(17,27,28). Thus, considering the current conditions and the necessity of online education, the facilities and equipment needed for this purpose should be improved.

Another theme extracted from the content analysis of interviews was ineffective learning and distancing from active learning, which could happen for different reasons. These can include the lack of Q & A in class, distraction, not paying enough attention to materials, failure to perceive the significance of materials, poor quality content, and poor critical thinking. In another study, Faize and Nawaz mentioned students' distraction in online classes caused by classmates' interference, the noise and sources of distraction at home, and the distractive presence of family members as the existing problems of online education. These are in agreement with the present findings (7).

The mismatch between the content and course design in online education and the inadequacy of instructional materials for online teaching were stated as the main challenges perceived by nursing students in a study by Harerimana (29). More than half of the nursing course content has to do with practical skills expected to be acquired in clinical settings. The current conditions can impede the acquisition of practical skills and can, thus, cause dissatisfaction with online education. Attempts have been made to teach practical skills through videos. Yet, these attempts cannot, on their own, suffice for the main practical courses in the nursing domain. Also, Surkhali and Garbuja pinpointed that online learning, especially in medical sciences that require clinical learning, has faced major challenges (18).

Besides the challenges of online education, there are certain advantages, too, including access to audio-visual files, lower risk of the disease, and chances of doing noneducational activities mentioned by the present participants. Contrary to the present findings about uploading video files, Mayer et al., showed that using videos in online classes (due to their one-way and lack of interactive nature) cannot lead to in-depth learning and creative thinking. Therefore, the teaching channel requires many changes so as to cater to more teacherlearner interaction and change from passive to active learning (30). In another study, Salimi mentioned family obsessions, chances of educational innovations, and fostering educational equity as the advantages of online education (31). Generally, the present findings showed that besides the advantages, there are serious challenges and concerns too which need to be taken care of to improve the quality of education.

In light of the present findings and the significance of

implementing online education in the COVID-19 pandemic, certain interventions and strategies are required to improve the quality of this educational mode by teachers and students. Online education can be used to lower costs. Thus, there should be more cooperation in teaching and learning to create a chance for a stress-free learning environment for all students. The present findings help better understand students' expectations, challenges, and barriers to effective online education and teach online courses more effectively.

Acknowledgments

We want to thank all the nursing students who helped us with this study

References

- Dewart G, Corcoran L, Thirsk L, Petrovic K. Nursing education in a pandemic: Academic challenges in response to COVID-19. Nurse Educ Today 2020;92:104471.
- 2. Sadeghi Mahali N, Arsalani N, Rad M, Nematifard T, Khaki S, Fallahi-Khoshknab M. Comparison of Virtual Education Challenges in Nursing Before and After COVID-19; A Systematic Review. Iran J Systematic Rev Med Sci (IJSR) 2021;2:82-103.
- Vasavda C, Ho Bk, Davison A. Socially Distant Medical Education in the Face of COVID-19. Med Sci Educ 2021;31:231-3.
- 4. Fatani TH. Student satisfaction with videoconferencing teaching quality during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMC Med Educ 2020;20:396.
- 5. Dhawan S. Online Learning: A Panacea in the Time of COVID-19 Crisis. J Educ Technol Syst 2020;49:5-22.
- Farsi Z, Aliyari S, Ahmadi Y, Afaghi E, Sajadi SA. Satisfaction of the Quality of Education and Virtual Education during the Covid-19 Pandemic in Nursing Students of Aja University of Medical Sciences in 2020. J Mil Med 2021;23:174-85.
- Faize FA, Nawaz M. Evaluation and Improvement of students' satisfaction in Online learning during COVID-19. Open Praxis 2020;12:495-507.
- 8. Kadivar M, Naima SF, Zolfaghari M Mehran A, Azizkhani L. The Effect of Virtual Education on Neonatal Nurses' Caring Ability at the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. J Pediatr Nurs 2017;3:32-38.
- 9. Dastani M. COVID 19: A new beginning in virtual education at the medical universities of Iran. J Horizon Med Educ Dev 2020;11:1-4.
- 10. Shafiei Sarvestani M, Mohammadi M, Jalil A, Raeisy L. Students' Experiences of E-Learning Challenges; a Phenomenological Study. Interdiscip J Virtual Learn Med Sci 2019;10:1-10.

- 11. Sarkar SS, Das P, Rahman MM, Zobaer MS. Perceptions of Public University Students Towards Online Classes During COVID-19 Pandemic Bangladesh. Front Educ 2021;6:1-9.
- 12. Bakouei F, Arzani A Adib Rad H, Abbasi R. Exploration of the Students' Perception to Virtual Education in Covid-19 Epidemic: A Qualitative Study. J of Nurs Educ 2021;10:93-104.
- 13. Polit D, Beck C. Nursing research: generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. 9th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health; Lippincott Williams & amp; Wilkins; 2012.
- 14. Squires A, Dorsen C. Qualitative Research in Nursing and Health Professions Regulation. J Nurs Regul 2018;9:15-
- 15. Lakbala P. Barriers in Implementing E-Learning in Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences. Glob J Health Sci 2015;8:83-92.
- 16. Wingo NP, Peters GB, Ivankova NV, Gurley DK. Benefits and Challenges of Teaching Nursing Online: Exploring Perspectives of Different Stakeholders. J Nurs Educ 2016:55:433-40.
- 17. Ilonga A, Ashipala D-O, Tomas N. Challenges Experienced by Students Studying through Open and Distance Learning at a Higher Education Institution in Namibia: Implications for Strategic Planning. Int J Educ Technol High Educ 2020;9:116-27.
- 18. Surkhali B, Garbuja C K. Virtual Learning during COVID-19 Pandemic: Pros and Cons. J Lumbini Med Coll 2020;8:154-5.
- 19. Carpenter SH. What deters nurses from participating in web-based graduate nursing programs? A cross-sectional survey research study. Nurse Educ Today 2016;36:70-6.
- 20. Rezaei R, Zarei F, Tehrani H. Exploring the Use of Social Media on Teaching and Learning Science from Teachers and Students Viewpoint. Iran J Nurs Res 2017;9:33-4.
- 21. Morin KH. Nursing education after COVID-19: Same or

- different? J Clin Nurs 2020;29:3117-9.
- 22. Sahu P. Closure of Universities Due to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Impact on Education and Mental Health of Students and Academic Staff. Cureus 2020;12:e7541.
- 23. Telford M, Senior E. Healthcare students' experiences when integrating e-learning and flipped classroom instructional approaches Br J Nurs 2017;26:617-22.
- 24. Kuhpayezadeh J, Afsharpor S, Naghizadeh Moogari Z. Psychometric adequacy of the Persian version of the deles questionnaire to evaluate the educational environment of environment of Iran university of medical sciences. Razi J Med Sci 2017;24:66-75.
- 25. Abo-Seada AI, Mostafa MF. Students' Satisfaction and Barriers of E-Learning Course among Nursing Students, Mansoura University. World J Nurs Sci 2017;3:170-8.
- 26. Saint-Marc P, Ratiney R, Schlatter J. Challenges in Implementing an E-Learning Education Program for Syringe Pump Use. Int J Nurs Educ Scholarsh 2019;16.
- 27. SOOD N, Garhi M. Online teaching learning during covid-19: experience of nursing programmes of ignou. Glob lokal Distance Educ 2020;10:15-27.
- 28. Keys E, Luctkar-Flude M, Tyerman J, Sears K, Woo K. Developing a Virtual Simulation Game for Nursing Resuscitation Education. Clin Simul Nurs 2020;39:51-4.
- 29. Harerimana A, Mtshali NG, Hewing H, Maniriho F, Borauzima-Kyamusoke E, Mukankaka A, et al. E-Learning in Nursing Education in Rwanda: Benefits and Challenges. An Exploration of Participants' Perceptive. IOSR J Nurs Health Sci 2016;5:64-92.
- 30. Mayer RE. The Cambridge Handbook of Multimedia Learning. 2nd Ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2014.
- 31. Salimi SA, Fardin MA. The Role of Corona Virus in Virtual Education, with an Emphasis on Opportunities and Challenges. Q J Res Sch Virtual Learn 2020;8:49-60.